1956

# Milton B. Johnson v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a suit brought to review the decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial commission of the State of Utah, Department of Employment Security, affirming the rulings of the other defendants denying plaintiff's application for unemployment compensation.

For at least ten years prior to the 30th day of March, 1956 plaintiff was employed by the United States Fuel Company at its coal mine in Hiawatha, Utah, on a regular basis. He was subject to seasonal lay-offs as a result of reduction in operations, but for a period of approximately five years, 1949

through 1954, he worked for the company full time. (Record, pp 13, 19)

During this time, and on the date above mentioned, plaintiff was the owner of approximately 254 acres of land in Emery County, Utah of which about 40 acres was tillable and cultivated. The 40 acres was made up of small scattered tracts of 3 to 5 acres each. The remainder was waste land not good even for grazing livestock. It never produced any income although he has been able to accumulate and maintain seven head of cattle, two sows and their letters and 25 or 30 chickens. All hay and grain produced was fed to the livestock and consumed on the place, and he never sold any products of the farm or the livestock except a little surplus cream from milking a couple of the scrub cows, and this brought about \$3 per week.

There appears to be no question but what plaintiff acquired the "farm" with the hope that he could make his living from it and be self-sustaining, but this dream of independence never materialized (Record, pp 12, 16). His wife and oldest son managed the work on the farm although he participated in and even did what planning was necessary on so few scattered acres (Record, p 18). But this never interfered with his occupat-

ion as a miner, and the farm was operated during the years of full employment just the same as other years. Plaintiff put in 25 to 30 hours a week on the farm (3½ to 4½ hours per day ) mostly irrigating, and he never lost time at the mine on account of his "farming" activities". He did not reside on the farm but lived in the town of Huntington.

On March 31, 1956 plaintiff was involuntarily separated from his employment at the mine in Hiawatha because of a "Reduction of force", and in due course he made his application in proper form for unemployment benefits.

On account of plaintiff's so-called farming operations his application was rejected on the ground that he was "'self-employed' and not 'unemployed'". (Record, p 24). There is no issue that plaintiff was not otherwise eligible for benefits.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

#### I

The evidence does not support the Finding and Conclusion that Plaintiff (petitioner) was not unemployed.

#### II

The Board of Review erred in affirming the



decision of the Department representatives denying to plaintiff the benefits of the Employment Security Act.

### ARGUMENT

When an applicant has been involuntarily separated from his employment and has complied with the formalities of the statute relative to an application for benefits, and holds himself out as available for work, registers for, and is ready, willing and able to work and actively seeks employment, he is not ineligible because he owns and operates a small farm and derives a part of his livelihood therefrom, not from sale of production, but from its use on the farm.

1. The ultimate question, of course, is whether plaintiff was "unemployed" within the meaning of the Statute. It is provided by Section 35-4-3 (a), U C A 1953 as amended:

"Benefits shall become payable from the fund to any individual who hereafter is or becomes unemployed and eligible for benefits. ..."

He must be both "unemployed" and "eligible". Since there is no question of plaintiff's eligibility, the question is confined to whether he was "unemployed". The Appeals Referee found that "claimant was not unemployed .."

It is significant to note that while the

terms "unemployment" and "employment" are defined in the Act, the term "self-employment" is NOT defined, and is not used in the Act except as a basis for denial of benefits when it is found that there is "customary self-employment" to which the applicant refuses to return when so directed by the commission. (Section 35-4-5 (c), U C A 1953 as amended).

Section 35-4-22, Subsection (j) (1) U C A 1953 defines "employment" as:

"... any service performed prior to January 1, 1941, which was employment as defined in the Utah Unemployment Compensation Law prior to the effective date of this act, ..."

The word "service" is not defined, and under Section 63-3-11, U C A 1953, must be construed according to the "approved usage of the language". See also Cache Auto Co. v. Central Garage, 63 U. 10; 221 Pac. 862, 30 ALR 1217.

By no stretch of the imagination can the "approved usage" of the word "service" be tortured to include the plaintiff's activities on his "farm" as disclosed by the record.

"The word 'Service', not being defined in the act, must be given its common meaning, unless the context requires otherwise, which it does not. Merriam-Webster's New Inter-

national Dictionary defines 'service' as, 'The occupation, condition, or status of a servant. - Performance of labor for the benefit of another, or at another's command; - hire helper; - duty done or required. ' Certainly these definitions do not embrace the activities of the defendant in assisting part time in the running of his own clothing establishment. In addition, the defendant's services were not performed for 'wages' nor did he receive any compensation therefor. Likewise he was not under 'any contract of hire,' express or implied."

People v. Nest, (Cal. 1942)  
128 P.2d 444 @ 446.

Subsection (m) (1) of Section 35-4-22, U C A 1953 provides that;

"An individual shall be deemed 'unemployed' in any week during which he performs no services and with respect to which no wages are payable to him, ..."

Since plaintiff's farming activities cannot be construed as "service", and since it is not claimed that any wages were paid or payable to him, plaintiff was "unemployed" within the meaning of the Act and entitled to the benefits therein provided.

2. The Board of Review and Department representatives have no right or authority to determine what activities constitute "self-employment" and to withhold the benefits of the Act because of such activities.



Nowhere in the Act is it provided that "self-employment" makes ineligible for the benefits one who is otherwise eligible. The tests of ineligibility are set out in Section 35-4-5 U C A 1953, and "self-employment" is not among them.

The Department and the Board are creatures of statute and their powers and authority cannot be extended by judicial construction. Inasmuch as the terms "employment" and "unemployment" are defined by the legislature but the term "self-employment" is not, it cannot logically be contended that the legislature intended for the Board and department representatives to read the term into the Act and define it by their own standards. Even if this were so, it would be unconstitutional as an unwarranted delegation of legislative powers in that it fails to set up standards to guide the Board in its determination.

Case No. 56-BR-137 (Record, p 25), relied on for decision in the instant case, is an example of the evil of such a contention. While there are distinguishing variations in the fact situations which, in the writer's opinion, render the former case useless as a basis for a decision in this case, the decision is based on the "intent" of the applicant when he undertakes outside activities.

"The doctor or lawyer who is devoting his time and effort to build up his practice upon which he intends to rely for a living is engaged in self-employment. \* \* \* \* \*

"Secondly, the Department must arrive at a determination as to whether or not the self-employment enterprise does, or potentially may, produce a substantial or material part of his gross income."

(Record, p 28)

In other words, the applicant is penalized for trying to be, or to become, self-sustaining. If the plaintiff had let his farm go to weeds, and had sat on his front porch, so to speak, and twiddled his thumbs, never intending to derive a "substantial or material part of his gross income" from his farm, and made no effort to be independent or self-sustaining during his periods of unemployment, then the Board would have paid the benefits; otherwise, he gets nothing.

"In applying the above rules to the sections of the Unemployment Insurance Act involved herein we are of the opinion that the while it was the intention of the legislature to protect the fund created under the statute from chisellers, it was not its intention to put a premium on idleness, nor to discourage citizens out of employment from making early and earnest attempts to re-establish themselves economically to avoid becoming or continuing to be charges on society."

People v. Nest, supra.

## CONCLUSION

The extent to which the Board, in No. 56-BR-137, copied from the opinion in *MUNCHANT v. UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION BOARD OF REVIEW*, 175 Pa. Super. 85, 103 A.2d 438 (1954), and the extent to which the Appeals Referee in the instant case, by leading questions, undertook to bring plaintiff's situation within the law and facts of that case, make it apparent that the Board relies completely on that case for the two decisions.

Even if there was any similarity in the fact situations; and even if the law in Pennsylvania was the same as in Utah, that decision is wrong in principal. But to compare 50 acres of farming land in Pennsylvania with 40 acres of alkali land in Emery County, Utah places too great a strain on the imagination.