1957

# Milton B. Johnson v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT 1.

THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE THAT THE PLAINTIFF (PETITIONER) WAS SELF-EMPLOYED AND THEREFORE NOT UNEMPLOYED IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The entire record, including the testimony of the claimant (Petitioner) supports the findings of fact that the claimant was a self-employed farmer. The claimant as previously pointed out, testified that he had been a farmer all of his life and he stated: "We are trying to make that farm our life, our livelihood." R-19. There can be no disputing the fact that the claimant was actively engaged in carrying on his occupation as a farmer, not only at the time he filled his original application for unemployment compensation benefits but during the period when he was working in the coal mines. It is obvious that his farming operation did not provide a sufficient income to support his family. This appears to be the primary reason why the claimant also worked in the coal mines.

The decision of the representative that the claimant is a self-employed farmer is fully supported by the evidence.

### POINT 2.

A SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL IS NOT UNEMPLOYED FOR THE PURPOSES OF OBTAINING BENEFITS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT.



The Employment Security Act provides:

Section 35-4-2.

“As a guide to the interpretation and application of this act, the public policy of this state is declared to be as follows: Economic insecurity due to unemployment is a serious menace to the health, morals, and welfare of the people of this state. Unemployment is therefore a subject of general interest and concern which requires appropriate action by the Legislature to prevent its spread and to lighten its burden which now so often falls with crushing force upon the unemployed worker and his family. The achievement of social security requires protection against this greatest hazard of our economic life. This objective can be furthered by operating free public employment offices in affiliation with a nationwide system of employment services, by devising appropriate methods for reducing the volume of unemployment and by the systematic accumulation of funds during periods of employment from which benefits may be paid for periods of unemployment, thus maintaining purchasing power and limiting the serious social consequences of unemployment. The Legislature, therefore, declares that in its considered judgment the public good, and the general welfare of the citizens of this state require the enactment of this measure, under the police power of the state, for the establishment and maintenance of free public employment offices and for the compulsory setting aside of unemployment reserves to be used for the benefit of unemployed persons.”

Section 35-4-4.

“An *unemployed* individual shall be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week only if it has been found by the Commission that:” (Italics ours.)

Section 35-4-5(c).

“An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:”

“If the Commission finds that, being unemployed and otherwise eligible for benefits, he has failed without good cause, either to properly apply for available suitable work, or to accept a referral to suitable work when offered him by the employment office or to accept suitable work when offered him by an employer or by the employment office, *or to return to his customary self-employment* (if any) when so directed by the Commission. Such ineligibility shall continue for the week in which such failure occurred and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks, as determined by the Commission according to the circumstances in each case.” (Italics ours).

Section 35-4-22(j) (1).

“ ‘Employment’ means any service performed prior to January 1, 1941, which was employment as defined in the Utah Unemployment Compensation Law prior to the effective date of this act, and subject to the other provisions of this subsection, service performed after December 31, 1940, including service in interstate commerce, and service as an officer of a corporation performed for wages or under any contract of hire written or oral, express or implied.”

Section 35-4-22(j) (5) (C).

“Services performed by an individual for wages or under any contract of hire, written or oral, express or implied, shall be deemed to be employment subject to this act unless and until it is shown to the satisfaction of the Commission that—

such individual is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession, or

business of the same nature as that involved in the contract of service.”

Section 35-4-22(m)(1).

“ ‘Unemployment.’ An individual shall be deemed ‘unemployed’ in any week during which he performs no services and with respect to which no wages are payable to him, or in any week of less than full-time work if the wages payable to him with respect to such week are less than his weekly benefit amount. The Commission shall prescribe regulations applicable to unemployed individuals making such distinctions in the procedure as to total unemployment, part total unemployment, partial unemployment of individuals attached to their regular jobs, and other forms of short-time work, as the Commission deems necessary.”

Section 35-4-22(p).

“ ‘Wages’ means all remuneration for personal services, including commissions and bonuses and the cash value of all remuneration in any medium other than cash. Gratuities customarily received by an individual in the course of his employment from persons other than his employing unit shall be treated as wages received from his employing unit. The reasonable cash value of remuneration in any medium other than cash and the reasonable amount of gratuities shall be estimated and determined in accordance with rules prescribed by the Commission; provided, that the term ‘wages’ shall not include:”

The basic question confronting the Court in this matter is whether or not the Legislature, in adopting the provisions of the Utah Employment Security Act, intended that self-employed individuals were to be considered as not being unemployed for the purposes of obtaining unemployment compensation

benefits. Section 35-4-2, *supra*, the preamble to the Act, states that economic insecurity due to unemployment is a serious menace to the health, morals, and welfare of the people of this state, and further states that the purpose of the Act is to provide funds which might be paid to unemployed individuals in order to maintain purchasing power and limit the social consequences of unemployment. It points out that the reserves are to be used for the benefit of unemployed persons.

Section 35-4-4, *supra*, provides that only unemployed individuals shall be eligible to receive benefits.

Section 35-4-5(c), directs the Commission to order otherwise unemployed individuals to return to their customary self-employment, if any.

Section 35-4-22(j)(1), *supra*, defines employment as any service performed for wages.

Section 35-4-22(m)(1), *supra*, states that an individual is deemed to be unemployed in any week during which he performs no service and with respect to which no wages are payable to him.

This Court has, in the Fuller Brush case, 99 U. 97, 104 P. 2d 201, and the Creameries of America case, 98 U. 571, 102 P. 2d 300, ruled that a service means service for another and not for self. Section 22(p), *supra*, defines wages as all remuneration for personal services. The Act is completely silent as to earnings from self-employment. The only reference to the self-employed individual is that which is contained in the aforementioned Section 5(c). The Commission in administering the Employment Security Act has interpreted Section

5(c) to be a specific directive to the Commission to return any otherwise unemployed individual to his customary self-employment, and that when such individual does so return or has not left his self-employment, the Commission considers him to be employed and not unemployed.

Since there were no rules laid down upon which to determine whether or not an individual was engaged in a self-employment occupation, the Commission follows the rule that when an individual engages in a trade, business, profession, or occupation for a profit and when such trade, business, profession, or occupation is potentially profitable so that it may add substantially to his total income, then the individual so engaged is considered to be self-employed within the meaning of the aforementioned Section 5(c). The Commission considers such individual to be so engaged so long as he has not abandoned his trade, occupation, profession, or business and he is, during the week in question, performing substantial services in his self-employment.

In the instant case, of course, the claimant was applying for benefits during the normal agricultural growing season. An examination of rulings in Commerce Clearing House on unemployment compensation reveals that the practice in the several states varies to a considerable extent. In some of the states the farmer, for example, is considered to be self-employed during the planting, growing, and harvesting part of the year and not so self-employed during the period of the year when he has no continuing demand on his services. Other states have required the farmer to report the hours he has worked on his farm during periods of unemployment, and in those states a fixed

arbitrary value is placed on such hours of work and the resulting amounts deducted from any benefits to which he was entitled. In other states the yearly earnings of the self-employed individual are divided by 52 and, for the purposes of benefits, the resulting quotient, if any, is deducted from each weekly benefit check to which he may be entitled.

The following Appeal Referee and Review Board decisions are reported in Commerce Clearing House:

## ILLINOIS

“.195 A claimant who operates a farm consisting of 160 acres on which a hired man is employed for only five months of the year is not unemployed and eligible for benefits. Claimant who was willing to accept employment in the more remunerative occupation of carpentry is no different from a man working full time for low wages who is willing to accept other more remunerative employment.—Ref. Dec. No. AR-39-317, Dec. 12, 1939.” Reported at Page 16,181.

## INDIANA.

“In determining the income of a farmer from self-employment in operating his farm, the annual net income will be divided into 52 equal parts, representing the weeks of the year, and 1/52 of the entire annual income will be deducted each week as long as the farmer continues in part-time employment in operating his farm.—App. Trib. Dec. 40-A-75, 2-10-40.” Reported at Page 17,179.

“Where an individual operates a farm which does not require his full-time, he is entitled to benefits under the Indiana Unemployment Compensation Law in each week in which the value of his personal services rendered in that week is less than his weekly benefit

amount, each day's work on the farm being considered as having the value of \$2 since that is the prevailing wage for that type of labor in the community.—App. Trib. Dec. 40-A-298, 6-28-40.” Reported at Page 17,179.

## IOWA.

“.04 Benefit eligibility of 'self-employed' person. The Law section providing for the disqualification of an individual who fails to return to his customary self-employment (see Par. 1965, post), 'can only be sustained upon the theory that an individual who is "self-employed" is not "unemployed." The sole purpose and function of the Iowa Unemployment Compensation Law is to provide benefits to individuals who are "unemployed" and who, in addition thereto, meet certain standards of eligibility as provided therein.

“ 'An individual is employed when he performs services for wages. An individual is employed when he devotes the major portion of his working time and efforts to his individual enterprises and interests. The law contemplates the payment of benefits to an individual who, as part of the labor market, is seeking employment which he does not now have. It cannot reasonably be said that a farmer who devotes his entire working time and efforts to his farm is *unemployed*. It cannot be said that lawyers or doctors who devote the major portion of their working time and efforts to their professions are *unemployed*. Neither can it be said that the individual who devotes the major portion of his working time and efforts to the operating of his coal mine is *unemployed*. A man who enters upon a business venture of his own has removed himself from the labor market, at least during the period of his business venture.'—Comm. Dec. No. 40C-131, Dec. 5, 1940.” Reported at Page 18,140.

“.043 Farmers. — *Full-time farming operations.*—“The record will in this case disclose that the claimant



customarily devotes the major portion of his working time and efforts to his farm during the period for which he is claiming benefits. The claimant has an investment in his farm, livestock and machinery. During the years past he has attempted to manage such investment to show the greatest gain. While such an attempt is being made, it cannot be said that the claimant is unemployed . . . .’—App. Trib. Dec. No. 39A-635-CM, etc. Nov. 15, 1939.” Reported at Pages 18,140 and 18,141.

“*Miners operating farm.*—Claimant had been employed as a miner since 1914. In 1938, claimant rented an eighty-acre farm on which he lived. The claimant at all times directed the operation of the farm. He determined what land was to be cultivated and the kinds of crops that were to be planted and how they were to be harvested. Claimant became separated from his employment as a miner on May 4, 1939. He filed a claim for benefits on May 31, 1939. Whenever claimant was not working as a miner, he devoted the majority of his time to the operation of the farm. It was held that the periods of unemployment as a miner were controlling and determinative in ascertaining whether or not claimant was customarily self-employed. When claimant became unemployed as a miner, he devoted his entire time and efforts to farming, which constituted his individual enterprise and efforts. Claimant was, therefore, ‘customarily self-employed’ and, as a consequence, he is disqualified for benefits.—Comm. Dec. No. 39C-63, Nov. 14, 1939.” Reported at Page 18,141.

## MASSACHUSETTS.

“.618 Commercial enterprise.—A claimant who devoted all of his time to the development of his own business was not in total unemployment, although he was not receiving any direct salary or other compensation.—Bd. of Rev. Decs. Nos. 11804 Mass., 1565 Mass. and 2863.” Reported at Page 24,159.



"A claimant who was devoting part of each day to soliciting and filling printing orders was not available for employment and, therefore, not in unemployment even though he received very little remuneration. Bd. of Rev. Dec. No. 3537 Mass." Reported at Page 24,159.

"Two brothers, engaged as general contractors doing water and sewer construction work and employing as many as 20 persons, who applied for unemployment compensation when the weather interfered with their operations but were ready at all times to do any work which they could secure for their business, were held to be employers without an income from their business, not employees losing wages because of unemployment.—Bd. of Rev. Dec. No. X-43286." Reported at page 24,159.

"Owner of a retail store, who took no wages from the business but reinvested all his profits and who worked for wages at his usual occupation of construction worker whenever he could find work, but during intervals of unemployment spent his time in the active management of his store, was not eligible for benefits.—Bd. of Rev. Dec. No. 3214 Mass., Jan. 10, 1941." Reported at Page 24,159.

"A claimant who had been out of the labor market for a long time while self-employed and who ceased temporarily to receive an income from his self-employment during a dull season, although still making every effort which he could to secure contracts, was held not to be an unemployed worker losing wages due to unemployment even though he had made some efforts to find employment and would have accepted temporary employment which would not interfere with his resumption of the self-employment at any time.—Bd. of Rev. Dec. No. X-63648." Reported at Page 24,159.

".623. Family enterprise.—Claimant, during a regular seasonal layoff, operated his wife's popcorn stand,

turning over the proceeds for household expenses and paying the operating expenses from wages earned in his regular employment. He was in self-employment since he contributed his time and money to the enterprise. The fact that he was not gainfully employed was immaterial.—Bd. of Rev. Dec. No. 4235 Mass.” Reported at Page 24,159.

The state supreme courts in Michigan and Pennsylvania have considered the question of whether or not self-employed individuals fell within that class of individuals for whom the unemployment compensation laws were enacted. We quote at some length from several decisions in those two states. In the case of Phillips vs. Michigan Unemployment Compensation Commission, et al, 35 N.W. 2d 237, the Court ruled that the self-employed attorney was not unemployed. In that case the plaintiff, an attorney engaged in the practice of law since the year 1900, was employed by the X corporation as a worker in its manufacturing plant rather steadily from August 12, 1944, until October 6, 1947, when he was laid off due to lack of work. He continued in the practice of law, maintaining a law office in which he spent from 8 to 12 hours a day. He registered for work at the employment office and filed a claim for unemployment compensation benefits. The Commission ruled that he was employed and therefore ineligible to receive benefits. The Court said:

“The Act contains no expression of legislative intent to declare persons engaged in types of employment not covered by the protective provisions of the Act unemployed and therefore eligible under certain conditions to compensation. That the legislature did not so intend is apparent from section 2 in which the purpose of the Act is declared to be, inter alia, the prevention

of insecurity due to unemployment, and the accumulation of funds to provide benefits for unemployed persons in order to maintain their purchasing power. Such purpose does not include, nor is it consistent with, the idea of granting benefits to one gainfully employed in a type of employment not covered by the Act, such as rendering domestic, agricultural, or professional services for remuneration. Had the legislature so intended, it would have been unnecessary to provide, as was done in Section 48, that remuneration earned in agricultural labor shall be disregarded for the purpose of determining eligibility for total or partial benefits. Furthermore, the provision of section 29 that an individual shall be disqualified for benefits in all cases where he has failed, without good cause, to return to his customary self-employment, if any, when so directed by the commission, would be utterly pointless, if an individual who did return to his customary self-employment, such as the practice of law, were held to be entitled to receive total unemployment benefits.

“We believe that the words ‘unemployed individual’ are used in section 28 in their ordinarily accepted sense and that, taken in that light, one who is engaged in rendering service for remuneration or who devotes his time to the practice of a profession by which a living is customarily earned cannot be said to be unemployed.”

In most of the states in the United States many individuals who are working in factories or elsewhere also maintain self-employment enterprises, such as stores, service stations, farms, etc. Some of these individual enterprises are nothing more than hobbies. Others are merely maintained for the convenience of the family and are not, in the true sense of the word, operations for profit. With these latter types we are not concerned. Many of the others, however, are operated as businesses for

profit and in the true sense of the word. These people, then, work in the factories, etc., and accumulate wage credits which, if the individuals were fully unemployed, could be used as the basis for unemployment compensation benefits. If individuals find that their self-employed enterprise is not sufficient to maintain the standard of living to which they feel they are entitled, then they obtain jobs in covered employment, as so defined in the employment security acts, and earn wages to augment their income from the self-employment enterprises.

The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania in discussing this situation in the case of *Martin vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review*, 101 A. 2d 421, said:

“Conceivably, where a person divides his time and labor between work for another and potentially profitable work for himself as where e.g. a factory worker also operates say a store, a farm, or a work-shop, a suspension of work at the factory may not, and probably does not, expose him to the rigors of unemployment which the law is designed to alleviate.”

In the case of *Muchant vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review*, 175 Pa. Super. 85, 103 A 2d 438, the Court said:

“The claimant was regularly employed as a coal miner. By reason of lack of work due to a work stoppage in the steel industry he was laid off from June 2, 1952, to July 28, 1952.

“The claimant resides rent free on a farm containing 80 acres, which farm is owned by members of his family. In connection with a plan to establish a beef cattle herd of approximately 30 cattle, claimant has acquired and maintains 8 beef cattle. He also has acquired and maintains upon the farm two sheep, intending to build

up a herd of sheep of approximately 10. In order to maintain the cattle and sheep, claimant cultivates approximately 50 acres, producing from such cultivation hay, corn, wheat and oats, all of which is used as feed for the cattle and sheep.

"During the period in question, claimant devoted full time to the operation of his farm. Even when otherwise employed, claimant performs the necessary work in connection with the farm operation.

"The Board concluded that claimant was engaged in an activity sufficiently substantial in nature to constitute 'employment' and that by reason of such farming operation he was disqualified.

"The claimant admittedly had a relatively large farm which he personally worked during the period in question. The fact that he received no remuneration therefor during that time does not remove him from the definition of 'unemployed.' The efforts expended in those weeks may well contribute to his receipt of remuneration in the form of future profits from his farming enterprise. It cannot be said that such services are of a type to which no remuneration is payable. See *Phillips vs. Michigan Unemployment Compensation Commission*, 323 Mich. 188, 35 N.W. 2d 237.

"We have no doubt that claimant was available for recall to the mines at all times during the lay-off period. But the fact remains that he operated his farm during this interval, and therefore he was not unemployed while awaiting the call for the basic reason that one who is self-employed is not unemployed.

"We agree with the observation of the Board that such a ruling may tend to penalize the ambitious and energetic, but it must be borne in mind that the purpose of the Unemployment Compensation Law is to provide temporary benefits for the worker who is



unemployed through no fault of his own. See *Dawkins vs. Unemployment Compensation Case*, 358 Pa. 224, 234, 56 A. 2d. 254. It was not designed to insure a weekly income to those engaged in business ventures who may not realize a profit therefrom during various weekly periods. There may be a hardship in some cases where a regularly employed worker is also engaged in the conduct of a part-time business enterprise. However, if, as here, it is established that the claimant is actually engaged in the conduct of such an enterprise, the fact that he realizes no weekly profit from the business for the services rendered cannot operate to make him eligible for unemployment compensation benefits."

In the case of *Kapera vs. Unemployment Compensation Review Board*, 178 Pa. Super. 508, 116 A 2d. 239, decided July 21, 1955, the Court was considering a case in which the claimant had been employed by Westinghouse Electric Corporation as a machine helper. At the time he worked for Westinghouse he also operated an 86 acre farm. He was laid off and applied for unemployment compensation benefits. He was disallowed benefits on the grounds that he was not unemployed. We quote from the claimant's testimony and the decision of the Court.

The claimant testified: "I live on an 86 acre farm which I own together with my wife. My wife and a hired man which I have do the actual operation of the farm. I only do occasional work there as the hired man handles the farm. I have only 20 acres under tillage, the rest is in pasture and woodland; 6 acres of oats; 6 acres of wheat; 10 acres in corn; and some garden for the home. I have 26 head of cattle, 15 milking age. I have nothing whatsoever to do with the cattle unless my wife is ill or something and then I'll do her work for her. I usually work at Westinghouse but am presently laid off.

The milk averages \$5,000 per year. I would return to Westinghouse any time I am called as I have 9½ years of service there. I have always worked elsewhere as the farm isn't big enough to make a living on."

The Court's decision. "Section 4(u) of the Unemployment Compensation Law . . . as amended . . . provides that a claimant can only be deemed unemployed (1) with respect to any week (i) during which he performs no services for which remuneration is paid or payable to him and (ii) with respect to which no remuneration is paid or payable to him—. That appellant is engaged in a farming operation for his own benefit and with the hope of eventually realizing a profit therefrom is evident from his testimony. Since appellant assumed the risk of profit or loss, he cannot now look to the unemployment compensation fund to subsidize his business venture merely because he is not required to devote all of his time and effort to the farm work. In fact, appellant's farming operation was so extensive that he found it necessary to employ a farm hand. There can be no question that he was engaged in business for himself.

"Under the circumstances in the case at bar, appellant's situation does not represent the type of insecurity which was within the contemplation of the legislature. See *Shadowens Unemployment Compensation Case*, 177 Pa. Super. 49 110 A 2d 258. One who is self-employed is not unemployed. Muchant *Unemployment Compensation Case* 175 Pa. Super. 103 A 2d 438."

In the case of *Aley vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review*, 116 A 2d. 241, the claimant had worked for the National Tube Company and was laid off. He was denied benefits as being employed and not unemployed. The Court said:

“In the case at bar, appellant was, and for the past two years had been, an independent self-employed merchant engaged in business for the purpose of producing remuneration. The mere fact that his business may not have been profitable does not remove appellant from the category of a business man and bring him within the class of workers the Act was designed to protect.”

The Court then refers to its decision in the Muchant case *supra*.

Counsel for the appellant in the instant case argues that the Michigan and Pennsylvania court decisions, *supra*, are wrong in principle and that it is improper to compare farm land in Pennsylvania with farm land in the State of Utah. We think that the principle that the self-employed individual who is engaged in any trade, occupation, profession, or business which is potentially profitable is not included in the class of individuals for whom the Employment Security Act was passed is the sound one. We recognize that certain apparent injustices may result where an individual fails to make his enterprise a profitable one. However, the Employment Security Act is not designed to subsidize the several trades, occupations, professions, or businesses. To follow or apply a different plan would give rise to situations impossible of proper administration. Let us take the lawyer, for example, who earned sufficient credits in industry to qualify for unemployment compensation benefits. Let us assume that he maintained his office and during the period when he is otherwise totally unemployed, he spends his full time working at his occupation. Let us assume that he was, during October, November, and December of a given year, engaged in working on legal matters for which work he received

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